

SCAPPOOSE PLANNING COMMISSION

Council Chambers at City Hall 33568 East Columbia Avenue

Thursday, December 13th, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.

- 1.0 CALL TO ORDER
- 2.0 ROLL CALL
- 3.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
 3.1 September 13th, 2018 meeting
- 4.0 CITIZEN INPUT
- 5.0 NEW BUSINESS

5.1 **DOCKET # DCTA2-18** (page 10)

The Scappoose Planning Commission and City Council have scheduled Legislative Land Use Public Hearings to solicit comments on the following proposed amendments to Scappoose Development Code:

- 1. The addition of a new Chapter to the Development Code, Chapter 17.126 *Food Cart Pod Permits*. (page 16)
- 2. An amendment to Chapters 17.62 -General Commercial (C) and 17.68- Expanded Commercial (EC) to add food cart pods as a permitted use. (page 24)
- 3. An amendment to Chapters 17.69-*Public Use Airport (PUA)* and 17.70-*Light Industrial (LI)* to add food cart pods as a conditional use. (page 27)
- 4. An amendment to Chapter 17.162 *Procedures for Decision Making--Quasi-Judicial* to clarify the approval process for food cart pod permits. (page 35)

Format: Quasi-Judicial hearing, both oral and written testimony are permitted.

6.0 COMMUNICATIONS

- 6.1 Calendar Check
- 6.2 Commission Comments
- 6.3 Staff Comments
- 7.0 ADJOURNMENT

FULL PACKETS CAN BE VIEWED ON OUR WEBSITE; http://www.ci.scappoose.or.us/meetings
This is an open meeting, the public is welcome. The City of Scappoose does not discriminate on the basis of handicap status in its programs and activities. If special accommodations are required, please contact Susan M. Reeves, MMC, City Recorder, in advance, at 543-7146, ext 224. TTY 1-503

SCAPPOOSE PLANNING COMMISSION

Council Chambers at City Hall 33568 East Columbia Avenue

Planning Commission Minutes; Thursday, October 11th, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.

1.0 CALL TO ORDER

Chair Connell called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m.

2.0 ROLL CALL

Commissioners; City Staff;

Tim Connell Chair Laurie Oliver City Planner

Scott Jensen Vice Chair Elizabeth Happala Office Administrator III

Bill Blank Commissioner

Rita Bernhard Commissioner Others Present;

Patricia Gibson Commissioner Applicant, Lorene Bridgeman of Glowing Putters

LATE:

Kevin Freimuth Commissioner

ABSENT:

Bruce Shoemaker Commissioner

3.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES

3.1 September 13th, 2018 meeting

Vice Chair Jensen stated that he had a correction that was emailed to everyone today regarding an addition to "as amended" to first motion related to the airport.

Commission Blank requested an update to his comment about page numbers, from "distance" to "distinction".

<u>Commissioner Bernhard moved, and Vice Chair Jensen seconded the motion to approve the Sept.</u> 13th, 2018 Planning Commission minutes as amended.

Motion Passed 5-0. AYES: Chair Connell, Vice Chair Jensen, Commissioner Blank, Commissioner Bernhard, and Commissioner Gibson.

4.0 CITIZEN INPUT

There were none.

5.0 NEW BUSINESS

5.1 DOCKET # MoA 2-18

Lorene and Shawn Bridgeman have requested approval of an application for Modification of Approval (MoA2-18) of existing development to allow for the interior alteration of retail/office space to an indoor mini golf, arcade and party meeting space to be called "Glowing Putters". No exterior alteration is proposed. The site is located at 51583 Columbia River Hwy, north of and attached to the Sears building (adjacent to the Fred Meyer shopping Center), on property described as Columbia County Assessor Map # 3213-B0-01700.

Format: Limited Land Use Decision

Chair Connell read the docket, opening statement and the order of the hearing; then called for the staff presentation.

City Planner Oliver went over the staff report.

Commissioner Blank asked if it was a paved lot, City Planner Oliver agreed.

City Planner Oliver stated that staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve MoA2-18 with the conditions of approval listed in the staff report.

Commissioner Bernhard asked if the applicant was okay with the conditions of approval.

City Planner Oliver stated that they could request the applicant to come forward, which she did.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman came forward and stated her name and address. This is all new to her, but she did have a concern about the landscaping hedge to protect the residential homes to the north as the evergreen hedge & landscaping would be expensive; since the homes have been abutting the commercial property since 1967 would they consider waiving that requirement if she changed her business hours to be similar to Sears which closes around 6-7pm. Adding that she is still trying to understand the whole process and it's already been quite expensive.

Commissioner Bernhard asked if she had any other concerns or issues.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman stated that she is happy to put in the additional ADA stall even though there is one that adjoins her site with Sears. She also has a few other items with the Fire Marshal's review requirements due to the change of use and is wondering why all of it is needed since it is one building with a concrete wall that separates her space from Sears. Adding that she is still trying to understand why the change of use triggers all these different codes; is this normal for all buildings.

Commissioner Blank agreed and explained that the change of use triggers other requirements.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman stated she is running out of money and hopes she is still able to open. Adding that the ceiling already has sheetrock up that runs half way down the walls but to bring it up to code she must rip all of it out and replace it with double layers of sheetrock.

Commissioner Freimuth asked if she was leasing the space and if she had discussed the requirements with the owner/landlord.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman agreed and stated that she did discuss it with the owner; he was in shock as well since it is an existing building with the spaces separated correctly with the concrete wall.

Chair Connell asked about the existing sheetrock and the requirement to replace it.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman explained that Sears is one building and her section is separated by concrete blocks. She was told that every 3 feet it is poured solid concrete to be considered a structural wall. Adding that the requirement now to meet the Fire Code, is two layers of 5/8 gypsum board mounted to the joists which then requires removing ½ of the existing ceiling.

Chair Connell asked what the existing ceiling is made of now.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman replied that it's ½" sheetrock that exists on half the building and the wall is concrete.

Commissioner Bernhard asked if it would be possible for her to do something different for the landscaping or to do it in phases.

City Planner Oliver replied that it would need to be done prior to the issuance of the business license, unless the Planning Commission chose to create findings that this new use does not create a more intense use to the northern properties and waives that requirement, but she cannot do that.

Commissioner Blank asked if the height requirement was 5', then could she put up a screen fabric instead.

City Planner Oliver agreed it was 5' but the fabric would not be durable, adding that they did discuss slats but those tend to break down over time which is why the code states a hedge must also go in front of the slats to block the view. Stating that the commission could direct her to write findings that the use is allowed as-is without the landscaping requirement. Or possibly a cedar fence which they discussed prior to the meeting tonight or a 4' high cedar fence which is in the parking code as a buffering requirement.

Commissioner Blank stated that he understands the cost but those residences to the north might not be used to those later business hours or used to that amount of traffic. Adding that he hopes there is compromise.

Commissioner Bernhard agreed that maybe there was a way she could do it in increments due to the cost.

Commissioner Blank asked if there was something else she could put up to begin with.

City Planner Oliver replied that it should be something durable to begin with since the fabric wouldn't be, but they could say the area of the parking lot area to the north, that is directly across from the houses, would be the only section that needs to be landscaped.

Commissioner Freimuth asked if anyone has talked to the homeowners abutting the parking lot.

City Planner Oliver stated that they were noticed as required, but they did not respond, adding that if they were concerned, they would have been here tonight or written to us.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman stated she was at her business at 6am and she did notice headlights from the Windermere property which is north of the residences; which is a newer development that does not have any hedge or screen to block their headlights. Adding that it doesn't seem very fair that she has to do all this for her business when other newer businesses are not having the same requirement.

City Planner Oliver stated that is a good point, although she would have to look up that development to see what was written in the findings; possibly it was a development that might not have triggered that requirement.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman stated they are just having golf balls in an office then.

City Planner Oliver replied that the use is changing, per code, from office to an assembly use.

Vice Chair Jensen stated that he understands that this process can be a rough process, but it is the only opportunity the city has to bring things up to current code, which is all in regard to safety. Adding that he does appreciate how surprising this all can be for someone who's never gone through this process, but

it is a safety thing and it's the only opportunity the city has to be responsible in making our city safer and our buildings safer.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman added that possibly this should have been done when Banner Travel moved into the space, but they didn't contact the city when they moved into the space. Adding to her knowledge they never had a business license after being in that space for the past 7 years. Stating that she doesn't want to be punished for what they didn't do.

City Planner Oliver stated that it used to be an Oregonian newspaper office, so it might not have triggered any codes since it was office to office. Adding that she did not know that they didn't have a business license.

Commissioner Blank stated that he had been in there when it was Banner Travel and there were a lot of other things in the office not travel related.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman added that she did have a question about the bicycle rack requirement and noticed there are other businesses in the city that do not have bicycle racks.

Commissioner Blank stated that it is just another opportunity for things to catch up to current code requirements. Adding there are a lot of older businesses that don't have any bike racks since that wasn't a requirement in the past, but as new businesses come into town those are required.

Chair Connell asked if the applicant had any further questions for the Commissioners.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman said she does not, but she is not sure what else she needs to do tonight.

Commissioner Bernhard asked if she could do the landscape hedge in increments, would that be helpful.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman agreed that it would be as any financial breaks at this point would be helpful. Adding that she is a full-time nurse and thought the business would be great for this town since there isn't much for kids to do; she knows they like to cause mischief when there isn't enough for them to do. She has had to hire an architect and an engineer for this project which was an additional \$10,000 so far, which she did not anticipate. And she still has an additional \$10-15k in upgrades. Any break would be helpful as she is not rich and does not have a rich business; her and her husband both have their own careers.

Commissioner Blank asked if she had any staff.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman replied no, she switched her nursing schedule around to where she will work 3 days a week at the hospital for her full-time status, and 4 days a week at the business, which she would have open Thurs- Sunday.

Commissioner Blank asked how she got the name; Glowing Putters.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman replied that she thought of it. Adding that she wanted the word green in the name, but due to so many pot-shops that have green in their name she decided against it as she didn't want anyone to think her business had anything to do with marijuana. The putters do glow in the black light, so she came up with Glowing Putters.

Commissioner Freimuth asked how long she has lived in the area.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman replied 7 years.

Commissioner Freimuth stated that there used to be a putt-putt course in Scappoose, but it was way outside the city and not within walking distance; great idea but poor location.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman is excited for this business as it will be unusual; with the black light everything will glow neon and the walls will be airbrushed with beautiful murals. Adding that kids and adults love it.

Commissioner Freimuth asked if she would have a party area too.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman replied yes, adding that it could also be a meeting room and she purchased some restaurant equipment, so they can host birthday parties, church events or business meetings.

Chair Connell asked if anyone had any further questions, as there were none, he thanked the applicant for her presentation.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman asked if this means it was approved.

Chair Connell stated that they still need to deliberate, and she will receive that answer shortly, tonight.

City Planner Oliver stated that they know the drill and appreciates their responses in knowing that this is a change of use and Vice Chair Jensen summed it up best as to why we require buildings to come up to code. Adding that she is on the fence about the fence/screening issue although she must write findings as to what is required per our code. She does not oppose the idea of the commission requesting her to write findings that this is not a more intense use to waive the requirement or that you are choosing to incrementally require the landscaping. Therefore, as you deliberate you might think of different options. Adding that the Fire Marshal will work through his requirements with the applicant, stating that the city has adopted their fire ordinance, so the city can require businesses to comply with their fire code.

Commissioner Blank asked if that had to be done prior to the issuance of the business license.

City Planner Oliver agreed.

Chair Connell closed the hearing for deliberations.

Vice Chair Jensen stated that they did discuss the fencing requirement prior to the meeting tonight and he has been thinking about it, although delaying it would only cause more work for staff since someone would have to keep track of it and remember to look into that, but he is willing to be flexible.

Commissioner Bernhard stated there could be a plan set in place with dates.

Commissioner Blank stated that looking though the 7 conditions of approval one by one; the idea of the landscaping isn't too concerning considering the others that are there.

Commissioner Bernhard stated that she is still leaning towards doing it incrementally.

Commissioner Blank stated he too agrees with that since that will get this thing moving and while the neighbors didn't write in when they got notice, what happens if they do have complaints once the business is up and running; at least there would be something in place.

Commissioner Freimuth stated they could require it within the first year.

Commissioner Blank agreed that there should be a deadline and hopefully by then the business is successful and still operating, and they would be able to afford it then.

Commissioner Bernhard added that a planted hedge could be easily installed incrementally.

Commissioner Blank stated they could work with staff on what would be acceptable.

Commissioner Bernhard stated as long as we meet the goal and the process.

Commissioner Freimuth added that was what City Planner Oliver stated, giving the applicant the flexibility on what could be used as the barrier as long as it's durable.

Chair Connell asked if that entire 178' needs to be buffered.

City Planner Oliver asked everyone to look on page 27 in the Traffic Study, it shows an aerial; the spaces next to Digital Guru are head-in, while the 7 spaces to the left are at an angle and there are houses there. Adding that those houses have been there since the 1950's, which also have businesses to the north of them.

Chair Connell asked about the shed, and the house to the west.

Commissioner Freimuth stated they should have to block the entire line of the property.

Commissioner Bernhard stated that is asking a lot since we are anxious to have a new business in the area.

Chair Connell stated this hasn't been a problem in 50 years.

Vice Chair Jensen stated there is a difference between this 'hasn't been a problem' and there 'hasn't been a complaint made'. Asking if it would work to give it a year and if there is a complaint, then they require it.

City Planner Oliver added that she had thought about that, making the complaint the trigger.

Commissioner Freimuth asked if the provision was just for the 7 parking spots.

City Planner Oliver agreed.

Commissioner Blank stated if it is triggered then we need to figure out how to resolve it.

Vice Chair Jensen stated they could leave some flexibility up to staff to determine at that time, based on cost.

City Planner Oliver agrees since Vice Chair Jensen brought up a good point in their earlier conversation that an evergreen hedge would require maintenance but a 4' solid fence adjacent to the 7 stalls would be required if a complaint is received within the first 12 months. Adding that they don't want this to drag on and have to keep an eye on it forever, if the properties to the north are going to complain, it would be within the first year.

Commissioner Bernhard stated that there might not be any complaints.

City Planner Oliver added that eventually these properties to the north will redevelop into commercial properties.

Vice Chair Jensen agreed if there was a complaint, we would deal with it, but in the long term those properties won't always remain residential.

City Planner Oliver stated the motion would be as amended that the Planning Commission is waiving any buffering and screening requirement, unless there is complaint within 12 months of the opening of business, in which case the applicant would be required to install a 4' solid fence along the 7 parking stalls to the north.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman spoke faintly from the audience; asking if she has a complaint within a year then she would have to install a 4' fence.

Chair Connell asked for a motion.

Vice Chair Jensen moved, and Commissioner Bernhard seconded the motion to approve Docket # MOA 2-18, with 7 conditions of approval except for #3 amending enforcement if there is a complaint within the first 12 months of business giving staff flexibility to work with the applicant. Motion Passed 6-0. AYES: Chair Connell, Vice Chair Jensen, Commissioner Blank, Commissioner Bernhard, Commissioner Gibson and Commissioner Freimuth.

Applicant Lorene Bridgeman thanked the Commissioners and stated she can't wait to open.

6.0 COMMUNICATIONS

6.1 Calendar Check

City Planner Oliver went over the calendar.

6.2 Commission Comments

Commissioner Blank thanked everyone, and they came to a reasonable decision. He also welcomed the new commissioners; Commissioner Gibson and Commissioner Freimuth.

6.3 Staff Comments

City Planner Oliver thanked the new commissioners for stepping up. Then discussed all the upgrades happening at the new City Park; Chief Comcomly, near Seely Lane.

Commissioner Bernhard asked if there would be a bridge between the two parks.

City Planner Oliver replied that is a long-term goal.

Vice Chair Jensen stated it would be nice to focus on a different section of town.

Commissioner Freimuth added that he and his family really enjoy all the improvements to the city parks, including the water feature at Heritage Park.

Commissioner Blank stated that the library will have an exhibit and live presentation about WWI in the upcoming week, or possibly at the high school. He'll forward the info to us to pass along to everyone.

| attended. | | |
|--|-------------------|--|
| 7.0 ADJOURNMENT | | |
| Chair Connell adjourned the meeting at 8:04pm. | | |
| | | |
| | Chair Tim County | |
| | Chair Tim Connell | |
| Attest: | | |
| Elizabeth Happala, Office Administrator III | | |

Chair Connell thanked City Planner Oliver for always being so thorough and thanked all the citizens that

<u>DCTA2-18</u> December 6, 2018

Food Cart Pod Permit - Chapter 17.126

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE STAFF REPORT

Request:

Approval of Development Code Text Amendment <u>DCTA2-18</u> to make the following legislative changes to the Development Code:

- 1. The addition of a new Chapter to the Development Code, Chapter 17.126 *Food Cart Pod Permits*.
- 2. An amendment to Chapters 17.62 General Commercial (C) and 17.68-Expanded Commercial (EC) to add food cart pods as a permitted use.
- 3. An amendment to Chapters 17.69-Public Use Airport (PUA) and 17.70-Light Industrial (LI) to add food cart pods as a conditional use.
- 4. An amendment to Chapter 17.162 *Procedures for Decision Making--Quasi-Judicial* to clarify the approval process for food cart pod permits.

Applicant:

City of Scappoose

EXHIBITS

- A. Current draft of proposed Chapter 17.126 -Food Cart Pod Permits
- B. Current draft of proposed amendments to Chapters 17.62 General Commercial (C) and 17.68- Expanded Commercial (EC)
- C. Current draft of proposed amendments to Chapters 17.69-Public Use Airport (PUA) and 17.70-Light Industrial (LI)
- D. Current draft of proposed amendments to Chapter 17.162-Procedures for Decision Making--Quasi-Judicial

INTRODUCTION

An identified City Council goal for FY18-19 was to explore a food cart ordinance since the only method the City currently has to allow food carts is through the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit, which is only good for 90-days, is intended to celebrate a specific season or event (e.g., a Christmas tree stand or fireworks stand), does not have development standards, and is not renewable during the calendar year it is issued in.

City staff kicked off the food cart ordinance discussion during July 2018 with an introductory work session on the topic with City Council. Planning Department staff drafted a new development code chapter, Chapter 17.126 -Food Cart Pod Permits, and held a second work session with Council in September 2018 in order to gain feedback on the draft development code language.

Food Cart Pod Permit – Chapter 17.126

Some of the main topics of discussion during work session #2 involved:

- Where should food carts be allowed?
- Utility considerations
- Parking considerations
- Site Design Standards
- Review type and length of approval

Based on feedback received during the September work session, as well as input from the Economic Development Committee members, Planning Department staff revised the draft development code language and brought back the amended draft for a third and final work session with Council in early November 2018. Discussions during the third work session were limited to minor clarifications and a final review of the draft development code.

ANALYSIS

The proposed amendments to the Development Code are intended to allow individual entrepreneurship at a small scale and to provide unique eating establishments to the public, while ensuring that food carts are conducted as lawful uses and in a manner that is not detrimental or disruptive in terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents.

AGENCY COMMENTS & PUBLIC NOTICE

The City Manager, Chief of Police, Public Works Director, City Engineer, Fire Marshal and the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) have been provided the opportunity to review copies of this application. No objections to the proposal have been received and feedback from the Fire Marshall has been incorporated into the approval criteria.

Notice of the proposed amendments to the Development Code was published in the local newspaper on November 30, 2018 and December 7, 2018, as required by Chapter 17.160 of the Development Code. Staff has received no written comments from the public regarding this application as of the date of this report.

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the applicable statutes, rules, comprehensive plan provisions and implementing ordinances, staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend adoption of the proposed amendments by the City Council.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The following Statewide Planning Goals have been considered by the City of Scappoose in the formation of the language contained within this request:

Goal 1: Citizen Involvement

Objective: To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process.

Finding:

This application complies with the citizen involvement processes included in the City's acknowledged Comprehensive Plan and Development Code, which is consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 1. The Planning Commission and City Council hold public hearings on the proposal prior to adopting any amendments to the Scappoose Municipal Code. Notice of the proposal and hearings was published in the local newspaper on November 30, 2018 and December 7, 2018.

Citizens may submit written or verbal testimony to communicate their input into the proposed Development Code amendments. For this application, the Planning Commission's hearing date is December 13, 2018, while the City Council's hearing date is January 7, 2019 for the first reading and January 22, 2019 for the second reading. This process complies with Goal 1.

Goal 2: Land Use Planning

Objective: To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all decision and actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate factual base for such decisions and actions.

Finding:

The proposal to amend the Development Code is consistent with the City's regulations regarding legislative land use decisions. Legislative decisions require a Planning Commission recommendation to the City Council, which then makes a decision based on stated findings. The Planning Commission and City Council hearings are open to the public.

The procedural requirements for the proposed Development Code amendments involve assessment of the application's merits, notice to affected parties, and public hearings. Notice of the proposed amendment has been provided to the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) as required. The City's decision is based on findings of fact. This action complies with Goal 2.

Goal 9: Economic Development

Objective: To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of economic activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon's citizens.

Finding:

By establishing standards whereby, a food cart owner can establish a small-scale year-round business, the City is supporting entrepreneurship which will lead to an increase in eating establishments and will promote overall commerce within the City. This action complies with Goal 9.

Statewide Planning Goals 3-8 and 10-19 are not applicable to this application.

Food Cart Pod Permit - Chapter 17.126

2. The following Goals and Policies from the Scappoose Comprehensive Plan have been considered by the City of Scappoose in the formation of the language contained within this proposal:

GENERAL GOALS OF THE CITY OF SCAPPOOSE FOR LAND USES

19) Citizen participation will continue to be an important element of the City's land use planning process. Besides public hearings held by the Planning Commission and City Council, the City shall utilize the local newspaper and radio station to keep populace informed of land use issues. The City shall also publish quarterly a summary of past and future activities.

Finding:

Notice of the proposed amendments to the Development Code has been published in the local newspaper to inform citizens of the opportunity to participate in the review and decision-making process. The applicable GENERAL GOAL OF THE CITY OF SCAPPOOSE FOR LAND USES is satisfied.

GOALS FOR ECONOMICS

It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to:

1) Maintain conditions favorable for a growing, healthy, stable, and diversified business and industrial climate.

[...]

Finding:

By establishing standards whereby, a food cart owner can establish a small-scale year-round business, the City is supporting entrepreneurship which will lead to an increase in eating establishments and will promote overall commerce within the City. The applicable *GOALS FOR ECONOMICS* are satisfied.

POLICIES FOR THE COMMERCIAL LAND USE DESIGNATION

[...]

- 2) Encourage the preservation, improvement, expansion, and renewal of the City's existing business district and implement the adopted Downtown Scappoose Plan supporting the existing business district in its role as a center of economic and civic activity for the entire community.
- 3) Encourage the filling-in of vacancies in present commercial strips, together with design features that would reduce conflict with traffic flow, such as frontage roads and single access joint off-street parking.

- 4) Locate business activities in clusters for the convenience of the public to be served rather than scattered or mixed with non-commercial land uses.
- 5) Allow a wide variety of business, office, and service uses, including motels, hotels, and rooming houses; however, care must be taken to ensure that non-retail uses such as apartments do not prevent the establishment of compact, clustered business centers.

Finding:

Creating regulations aimed at allowing food carts on a year-round basis will encourage the preservation, expansion and renewal of the existing commercial district. Food cart pods will also support a pedestrian oriented downtown district which will complement existing businesses and contribute to a vibrant center for economic activity. The applicable *Policies for the Commercial Land Use Designation* are satisfied.

3. The following sections of Title 17 of the Scappoose Municipal Code (Scappoose Development Code) have been considered by the City of Scappoose in the formation of the language contained within this proposal:

<u>Chapter 17.22 AMENDMENTS TO THE TITLE, COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AND MAPS</u>
<u>17.22.040 Approval criteria.</u> Planning commission review and recommendation, and Council approval, of an ordinance amending the comprehensive plan, the zoning map, or this title shall be based on the following criteria:

- A. If the proposal involves an amendment to the comprehensive plan, the amendment is consistent with the Statewide Planning Goals and relevant Oregon Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules;
- B. The proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan (although the comprehensive plan may be amended concurrently with proposed changes in zoning or this title), the standards of this title, or other applicable implementing ordinances;
 - C. The change will not adversely affect the health, safety, and welfare of the community;
- D. The proposal either responds to changes in the community or it corrects a mistake or inconsistency in the comprehensive plan, the zoning map, or this title; and

[...]

Finding: The proposal to add Chapter 17.126, and to amend Chapters 17.62, 17.68, 17.69, 17.70 and 17.162 of the Scappoose Development Code agrees with the applicable goals and policies of the Scappoose Comprehensive Plan and adheres to the necessary ordinances regarding decision making and noticing. The proposed code amendments will not adversely affect the health, safety or welfare of the community. This proposal responds to changes in the community since the City Council recognized a need to set regulations pertaining to food cart pods since they are increasing in popularity and previously the City did not have a way to permit them long term, nor were there any development standards regarding individual food carts or food cart pods. Section 17.22.040 is satisfied.

Chapter 17.160 PROCEDURES FOR DECISION MAKING—LEGISLATIVE

<u>17.160.120 The standards for the decision</u>. A. The recommendation by the planning commission and the decision by the council shall be based on consideration of the following factors:

- 1. Any applicable statewide planning goals and guidelines adopted under Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 197;
- 2. Any federal or state statutes or rules found applicable;
- 3. The applicable comprehensive plan policies and map; and
- 4. The applicable provisions of the implementing ordinances.
- B. Consideration may also be given to:

Proof of a substantial change in circumstances, a mistake, or inconsistency in the comprehensive plan or implementing ordinance which is the subject of the application.

Finding:

The Planning Commission's recommendations and the City Council's decisions are based on applicable statewide planning goals and guidelines, state statutes and rules, Comprehensive Plan policies, and provisions of the Scappoose Municipal Code, as detailed in the findings. The City has publicized the proposed amendments and will hold hearings in accordance with applicable laws. The City is amending the Development Code to adopt regulations that will allow food cart pods to operate on a year-round basis in a manner that is not detrimental or disruptive in terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents. Section 17.160.120 is satisfied.

Draft of new proposed chapter of the Scappoose Development Code. Text has not been double underlined since it is all new.

Chapter 17.126

FOOD CART POD PERMIT

Sections:

17.126.010 Purpose

17.126.020 Applicability and Exemptions

17.126.030 Permit Procedures

17.126.040 Food Cart Pod Standards

17.126.050 Food Cart Standards

17.126.060 Food Cart Pod Modification

17.126.070 Submittal Requirements

17.126.080 Conditions of Approval

17.126.090 Approval Period

17.126.120 Grounds for Revocation

17.126.010 Purpose. Mobile food units, which are defined in OAR 333-150-0000 as "any vehicle that is self-propelled or that can be pulled or pushed down a sidewalk, street, highway or waterway, on which food is prepared, processed or converted or which is used in selling and dispensing food to the ultimate consumer", can provide opportunities to enliven under-utilized parking lots, allow individual entrepreneurship at a small scale, and provide unique eating establishments for the public. The purpose of this chapter is to set standards to permit mobile food units, or "food carts" on a long-term basis. As with temporary uses, permanent site improvements may not be required; however, the standards and permit processes of this section are intended to ensure that food carts are conducted as lawful uses and in a manner that is not detrimental or disruptive in terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents.

17.126.020 Applicability and Exemptions.

A. Applicability.

- 1. This chapter is not applicable to temporary uses which are permitted through the Temporary Use Permit procedures of Chapter 17.128.
- 2. For the purposes of this chapter, the term "food cart" will be used interchangeably with "mobile food unit". "Food cart pod" refers to a site containing one or more food carts and associated amenities on private property.
- 3. The provisions of this chapter apply to all food carts within the City, whether it is a single food cart, or multiple carts in a pod.
- 4. Food carts are not permitted to travel to different sites throughout the City and shall only be allowed through an approved permit issued in conformance with this chapter.
- B. Exemptions. The following are exempt from the provisions of this chapter:
 - 1. Locations where food carts are stored when not in operation are exempt

from the provisions of this section; however, the storage of commercial vehicles may be subject to other requirements of the Scappoose Municipal Code.

2. Food carts that are operated as part of an approved farmer's market or allowed under a special event permit are exempt.

<u>17.126.030 Permit Procedures.</u> Food cart pod permits will be processed in accordance with Chapter 17.162, as follows:

- A. Type I. Up to two carts on one site with no accessory structures other than trash cans and portable accessory items, such as picnic tables, may be reviewed for compliance with this chapter and administratively approved by the Planner.
 - 1. The Planner shall make findings of fact based on evidence provided by the applicant demonstrating that all of the applicable criteria for food cart pods and individual food carts has been satisfied.
- B. Type II. Three or more carts on one site and/or accessory structures constructed in accordance with 17.126.040(B) may be reviewed in accordance with this chapter, and applicable chapters of the Scappoose Municipal Code and the Planning Commission shall be the approval body.
 - 1. The Planning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny an application for a Type II Food Cart Pod Permit. The decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny an application for a Type II Food Cart Pod Permit shall be made by the Planning Commission upon findings of whether or not the proposed use:
 - a. Is in conformance with the standards contained in this chapter and any other applicable chapters, and
 - b. Is undertaken in a manner that is not detrimental nor disruptive in terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties, businesses and/or residents.

17.126.040 Food Cart Pod Standards. A property containing one or more food carts shall be maintained in a clean and orderly condition. Only those things authorized by the permit and shown on the site plan may be stored on the property. The following standards apply to food cart pod sites:

- A. Zoning. Food cart pods are not permitted in special flood hazard areas or in residential zones but are permitted in zones that allow for eating and drinking establishments either outright or through conditional use approval. In the Light Industrial, LI and Public Use Airport, PUA zoning districts, Food Cart Pod Permit approval is subject to Chapter 17.130 Conditional Use.
- B. Accessory Items and Structures. Trash receptacles for customer use shall be maintained no more than ten (10) feet from food carts, at a rate of one trash receptacle per food cart. Portable accessory items, such as picnic tables, are permitted. With Planning Commission approval, new accessory structures may be constructed, as follows:
 - 1. A maximum of two restroom structures, provided that the combined square footage does not exceed two hundred (200);

- 2. A maximum of two storage buildings, provided that the combined square footage does not exceed two hundred (200);
- 3. One trash enclosure; and
- 4. Outdoor seating areas, which may have roofs, floors, and railings, but no walls (e.g., decks, picnic shelters, pavilions), provided that the square footage does not exceed two hundred (200) square feet per food cart and that no single structure exceeds two thousand (2000) square feet
- 5. A food cart pod site with 3 or more food carts shall provide covered seating and restrooms on site.
- C. Signs. Type I approval: Signs are restricted to "A-Frame" signs only, permitted pursuant to Chapter 17.114. Type II approval: Signs are permitted pursuant to Chapter 17.114. Signage painted on food carts is permitted.
- D. Minimum Setbacks and Separation Distance. All food carts on the site shall be located a minimum of:
 - 1. Five (5) feet from any structure or other food cart;
 - 2. Ten (10) feet from any front lot line; and
 - 3. Five (5) feet from any interior side or rear lot line, except if such lot line abuts a street the setback shall be ten (10) feet and if such lot line abuts a residential district the minimum setback shall be twenty (20) feet. In the downtown overlay, Chapter 17.80 governs required setbacks, however, the provisions of section E (Screening) still apply.
 - 4. Awnings and canopies may encroach into the required setback not more than 36-inches, provided that the width of the setback is not reduced to less than three (3) feet.
- E. Screening. If the food cart pod is located less than twenty (20) feet from a residential zoning district, the residential property shall be screened from the food cart pod, which may be a portion of a property including the food cart, seating, queuing, etc., abutting the residential zoning district and may not necessarily extend to the shared property line. Required screening:
 - 1. May be provided by an existing, continuous, sight-obscuring structure, solid fence, or hedge;
 - 2. If new, shall be a continuous, sight-obscuring vegetative screen; or if fencing is utilized as screening, shall be stained cedar or ornate metal. Chain-link fencing with slats shall not qualify as acceptable screening material; and
 - 3. Shall have a minimum height of six (6) feet.
- F. Setback from Vehicular and Pedestrian Use Areas. Windows and doors used for service to customers shall be located a minimum of ten (10) feet from loading areas, driveways, on-site circulation drives, and parking lot aisles, and a minimum of five (5) feet from bicycle parking spaces and walkways.
- G. Obstruction of Vehicular and Pedestrian Use Areas and Landscape Areas. No food cart or associated element, such as aboveground power cords, seating areas, trash receptacles, signs, and customer queuing areas, shall occupy bicycle parking spaces,

loading areas, or walkways. Food carts shall not occupy landscaping areas approved as part of a prior design review or other land use application. However, occupying existing on-site automobile parking spaces is permitted, provided that such spaces are not simultaneously used for parking or required to meet minimum parking requirements on the site.

- H. Surfacing. All food carts shall be placed on a hard-surfaced area such as concrete or asphalt, and any associated parking, loading, and maneuvering areas for vehicles shall be on hard-surfaced areas. If new paved surface is added to a site to accommodate a cart, the parking area shall comply with applicable parking design standards contained in Chapter 17.106.
- I. Driveway Access. No new or modified driveway access is permitted, unless approved by the City Engineer, in accordance with this Chapter and other applicable sections of the Scappoose Municipal Code and the Public Works Design Standards.
- J. Intersection Sight Distance and Visual Clearance Areas. The food cart and any attachments, accessory items, or customer queuing areas shall comply with the intersection sight distance and visual clearance area requirements of the Scappoose Municipal Code Chapter 12.10 and Public Works Design Standards.
- K. Lighting. Outdoor lighting shall be required to maintain safety and for crime prevention, to be approved by the Chief of Police, if not already adequately provided by an existing use. All lighting on site shall be shielded so that it does not become a nuisance to neighboring properties.
- L. Utilities. To the extent that utilities are desired by the applicant or required by applicable regulations, food carts shall have self-contained utilities, or if on-site utility connections are proposed, such utilities shall be installed underground, except where prohibited by the utility district or company.
- M. Sanitation Facilities. Food cart pods shall ensure the availability of a restroom with hand washing facilities meeting the provisions of OAR 333-150-0000 for employees and customers. Portable restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are not permitted, unless the portable handwashing facilities provide hot running water meeting the provisions of OAR 333-150-0000. If portable restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are provided, they shall be screened from view with fencing or a solid vegetative screen, or a combination of the two, provided that the portable facilities are not visible from neighboring properties or public rights-of-way. The restrooms must either be on-site, within one-quarter mile or within 5 minutes walking distance and be available during the carts' hours of operation. Applicants shall provide the City with documentation that restrooms are available via the owners written permission for the utilization of facilities in an existing building.
- N. Sewage Disposal. Subsurface sewage disposal is prohibited.
- O. Vendor Parking. For any food cart pod requiring approval by the Planning Commission, vendor parking shall be provided in addition to the off-street parking requirements of Chapter 17.106 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements) at the rate of one parking stall per food cart. Vendor parking may be satisfied by the provision of off-site shared parking agreements, when the off-site parking space used is surplus parking and not required parking for an existing use.

- P. Landscaping. Type II food cart pod permits are subject to Chapter 17.100 Landscaping, Screening and Fencing. A portion of the landscaping required may be provided with attractive potted planters, provided they contribute to the aesthetics of the pod, provide effective screening, and are well maintained year-round.
- Q. Noise. Any noise generated on site is subject to Municipal Code Section 9.12.040
 Offenses Related to Noise.

<u>17.126.050 Food Cart Standards</u>. The following standards apply to each food cart on the site.

- A. Attachments. Attachments to the food cart, such as awnings or canopies, are permitted only if they are supported entirely by the cart and do not touch the ground. Neither the food cart nor any item relating to the cart shall lean against or hang from any structure or utility pole. No structure shall be attached to the food cart.
- B. Accessory Storage. Except as specifically allowed by 17.126.040(B), items relating to the food cart shall be stored in, on, or under the cart.
- C. Interior Seating or Vending. Customer seating or vending inside a food cart is prohibited.
- D. Length of cart. Food carts shall not exceed 26 feet in length.
- E. Carts and their accessory items shall be kept in good repair and be maintained in a safe and clean condition.
- F. The following health and sanitation standards shall apply:
- 1. Applicants shall provide wastewater/graywater disposal documentation that indicates how the outputs will be stored (if applicable) and what wastewater/graywater disposal method will be used. The documentation shall indicate a proper disposal method that ensures fats, oils and grease do not enter the City's wastewater infrastructure. If the applicant intends to contract with a third party for wastewater/graywater disposal, a copy of the contract must be provided to the City within 15 days of receiving a permit.
 - 2. Non-stormwater discharges to the City's stormwater system are prohibited.
- G. Drive-Thru Service. Food carts shall not provide drive-thru service.
- H. Other Licenses/Approvals Required. Besides meeting the requirements of this chapter, the operator of a food cart must have an active City business license, must comply with the current edition of the International Fire Code (I.F.C.) for Mobile Food Carts and receive an annual Fire District inspection and approval, and must receive approval and comply with the permit requirements of Columbia County Environmental Health Department.

<u>17.126.060 Food Cart Pod Modification</u>. An application for a food cart pod modification shall be required when any of the following thresholds apply:

A. Thresholds.

1. Modification to an approved food cart pod site layout or design, which does not

- increase the number of food carts permitted on the site.
- 2. Addition of non-permanent amenities to an approved food cart pod, such as but not limited to: picnic tables, awnings and landscaping.

B. Procedure Type.

- 1. The Type 1 procedure, as described in section 17.126.030(A) of this chapter shall apply to an application for a Food Cart Pod Modification when the thresholds above are met.
- 2. In the event that a modification exceeds the above thresholds, a new Type II Food Cart Pod Permit shall be applied for.

<u>17.126.070 Submittal Requirements.</u> An application for a Food Cart Pod Permit shall include the following:

- A. A completed application, including the property owners' signature, on a form provided by the Planning Department; and
- B. Information sufficient to address the standards in 17.126.040; and
- C. A site plan of the subject property drawn to scale and including:
 - 1. The lot lines,
 - 2. The location of existing structures,
 - 3. The proposed boundaries of the food cart pod. Within the boundaries of the food cart pod, the location of all food carts, seating areas, and any accessory items or structures,
 - 4. The proposed distance between the food cart pod and adjacent lot lines, as well as the proposed separation distance between individual carts and between carts and other on-site structures,
 - 5. The type and location of any proposed on-site utility connections for food carts,
 - 6. Number and location of food carts on site and individual square footage and length of each cart,
 - 7. Pictures or architectural elevations of proposed food cart(s),
 - 8. The location of existing and proposed loading areas, driveways, on-site circulation drives, parking lots aisles, parking lot lighting, bicycle and automobile parking spaces, and walkways,
 - 9. The orientation of service windows and doors on the food carts and location of customer queuing areas,
 - 10. The location of existing and proposed landscaping,
 - 11. The dimension, height, and location of proposed signs,
 - 12. Proof of the availability of restroom facilities for employees and customers that meet the requirements of OAR Chapter 333-150-0000,
 - 13. The method for disposing of wastewater and gray water,
 - 14. Written verification of approval by Columbia County Health Department,
 - 15. Written verification of approval by Scappoose Fire District,
 - 16. Traffic generation memo, meeting the requirements specified in SDC 17.154.030(S),
 - 17. A statement indicating any source of noise to be generated on the property and the method of mitigating the noise, and
 - 18. Any additional information that may be required by the Planning Department to

properly evaluate the proposed site plan.

<u>17.126.080 Conditions of Approval</u>. The approval body may impose conditions upon the approval of a Food Cart Pod Permit to ensure compliance with the requirements of this chapter, and other applicable chapters of the development code, and to minimize adverse impacts created by the use on surrounding property and uses. These conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- A. Limiting the hours, days, place and manner of operation;
- B. Requiring site and building design features which minimize environmental impacts such as noise, glare, and odor;
- C. Requiring additional building setbacks;
- D. Further limiting the building area and outdoor storage used by the food cart pod and restricting the location of the use on the site in relationship to adjoining uses;
- E. Designating the size, number, location and design of vehicle access points;
- F. Requiring landscaping, buffering and/or screening, of the food cart pod from adjoining uses and establishing standards for the continued maintenance of these improvements;
- G. Requiring storm drainage improvements, and surfacing of parking and loading areas;
- H. Limiting or setting standards for the location and intensity of outdoor lighting;
- I. Requiring and designating the size, height and location of fences and materials used for their construction;
- J. Requiring the protection and preservation of existing trees, and other vegetation, watercourses, slopes, wildlife habitat areas and drainage areas;
- K. Limiting the type and number of vehicles or equipment to be parked or stored on the site;
- L. Any other limitations which the staff considers to be necessary or desirable to make the use comply with this section; and
- M. Any limitations or conditions imposed by the City's service providers or the Fire Department.

17.126.090 Approval Period.

- A. Type I: A Type I Food Cart Pod Permit approval is valid for two years from the date of the final written decision, provided the approval is implemented within a one-year period. If not implemented within a one-year period, the approval will become void. At the end of any two-year period, the applicant may apply for another two-year permit by filing a new Type I or Type II application, as applicable.
- B. Type II: A Type II Food Cart Pod Permit approval does not expire, provided the approval is implemented within a one-year period. If not implemented within a one-year period, the approval will become void.
- C. "Implemented" means all necessary development permits shall be obtained and maintained for the approved development.

17.126.120 Grounds for Revocation. The Planner or designee may:

- A. Revoke a Food Cart Pod Permit approval if the conditions of approval have not been or are not being complied with and the food cart pod is being conducted in a manner contrary to this chapter.
- B. The Planner or designee shall approve the use as it exists, revoke the Food Cart Pod Permit, or compel measures to be taken to ensure compatibility with the neighborhood and conformance with this section after reviewing a complaint. Complaints may be originated by the City of Scappoose or the public. Complaints from the public shall clearly state the objection to the food cart pod, such as:
 - 1. Generation of excessive traffic;
 - 2. Generation of excessive noise or litter;
 - 3. Other offensive activities not compatible with the surrounding area.
- C. Waiting Period for Reapplication. When a Food Cart Pod Permit has been revoked due to violation of these standards, a minimum period of one year shall elapse before another application for a food cart pod on the subject parcel will be considered.
- D. The Food Cart Pod Permit owner may appeal the Planner's decision to the Planning Commission.



In the text below, language additions are <u>double underlined</u>. Only those sections being amended, have been included.

Chapter 17.62

C GENERAL COMMERCIAL

Sections:

- 17.62.010 Purpose.
- 17.62.030 Permitted and Conditional uses.
- 17.62.050 Dimensional requirements-Commercial and mixed-use buildings.
- 17.62.060 Dimensional requirements-Multifamily buildings.
- 17.62.070 Dimensional requirements Live/Work townhouse or live/work multifamily buildings
- 17.62.080 Live/Work Requirements.
- 17.62.090 Special Buffer Requirements for multifamily and Live/Work multifamily buildings.
- 17.62.100 Architectural character for multifamily and Live/Work multifamily buildings.

17.62.010 Purpose. The purpose of the general commercial zone is to provide for a concentrated, central commercial, office and major retail goods and services area with opportunities for employment and business and professional services in close proximity to residential services and located adjacent to arterial or collector streets. (Ord. 868, 2018; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)

17.62.030 Permitted and Conditional uses. (Ord 868, 2018)

| Use | |
|--|---------------------------------|
| Church | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Community recreation facilities | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Convenience sales | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Cultural exhibits and library services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Day care facility | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Mixed-use building | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Eating and drinking establishments | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Equipment rentals, general | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Financial, insurance and real estate services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Food and beverage retail sales | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Food cart pod (Type I or II), subject to Chapter | Permitted outright1 |
| <u>17.126</u> | |
| General retail sales | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter 17.142, Home Occupations | Permitted outright ¹ |

In the text below, language additions are <u>double underlined</u>. Only those sections being amended were included.

Chapter 17.68

EC EXPANDED COMMERCIAL

Sections:

- 17.68.010 Purpose.
- 17.68.030 Permitted and Conditional uses.
- 17.68.050 Dimensional requirements-Commercial and mixed-use buildings.
- 17.68.060 Dimensional requirements-Multifamily buildings
- 17.68.070 Dimensional requirements Live/Work townhouse or live/work multifamily buildings
- 17.68.080 Live/Work Requirements.
- 17.68.090 Special Buffer Requirements for multifamily and live/work multifamily buildings.
- 17.68.100 Architectural character for multifamily and live/work multifamily buildings.
- 17.68.010 Purpose. The purpose of the EC zone is to provide areas: A. For combining light manufacturing, office, retail sales, and complementary related commercial uses;
- B. For combining uses which have no off-site impacts in terms of noise, odor, glare, lights, vibration, smoke, dust or other types of off-site impacts;
- C. For combining parking, landscaping and other design features which physically and visually link structures and uses within one development; D. Which utilize a basic street and utility pattern which will permit flexibility in the size of development sites and provide internal circulation which connect to adjoining sites; and
- E. Which provide for a circulation system that provides direct access to arterials or collectors that will not channel traffic through residential areas. (Ord. 868, 2018; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)

17.68.030 Permitted and Conditional uses. (Ord 868. 2018)

| Use | |
|--------------------|---------------------------------|
| Agricultural sales | Permitted outright ¹ |

| Automotive and equipment: | Permitted outright ¹ |
|---|---------------------------------|
| 1. Repairs provided that a five-foot landscaped perimeter setback surround all outdoor parking and storage areas and all repair work is performed indoors; | |
| 2. Sales/rental/storage of farm equipment, automobiles, recreational vehicles, boats or light equipment, provided that a five-foot landscaped perimeter setback surrounds all outdoor parking and all storage areas are buffered and screened in accordance with Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and | |
| Fencing. | |
| Building materials sales and storage | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Building maintenance services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Business equipment sales and services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Church | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Commercial amusement facilities including bowling alleys, video arcades, and movie theaters other than adult motion picture theaters | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Communication services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Construction sales and services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Day care facility | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Mixed-use building | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Eating and drinking establishments | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Equipment rental and sales | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Financial, insurance and real estate services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Food cart pod (Type I or II), subject to Chapter 17.126 | Permitted outright ¹ |
| General retail sales | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter 17.142, Home Occupations | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Laundry services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Medical and dental services | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Mini-storage with or without caretaker dwelling | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Multifamily buildings, when located outside of the Scappoose Creek Flood Plain | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Live/Work townhouses or live/work multifamily building | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Packaging and production of finished products from previously prepared materials | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Parking facilities | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Participation sports and recreation, indoor | Permitted outright ¹ |
| Postal services | Permitted outright ¹ |

Exhibit C

In the text below, language additions are double underlined.

Chapter 17.69

PUA PUBLIC USE AIRPORT

Sections:

- 17.69.010 Purpose.
- 17.69.020 Conformance with public use airport safety and compatibility overlay.
- 17.69.030 Definitions.
- 17.69.040 Permitted uses.
- 17.69.050 Uses permitted subject to the acceptance of the airport sponsor.
- 17.69.060 Conditional uses.
- 17.69.070 Dimensional requirements and development standards.
- 17.69.010 Purpose. The purpose of the public use airport zone is to encourage and support the continued operation and vitality of the Scappoose Industrial Airpark by allowing certain airport-related commercial, manufacturing and recreational uses in accordance with state law. (Ord. 726 §2, 2002)
- 17.69.020 Conformance with public use airport safety and compatibility overlay. All uses, activities, facilities and structures allowed in the public use airport (PUA) zone shall comply with the requirements of the Public Use Airport Safety and Compatibility Overlay (Chapter 17.88). In the event of a conflict between the requirements of this zone and those of the public use airport safety and compatibility overlay, the requirements of the overlay shall control. (Ord. 726 §2, 2002)
- 17.69.30 Definitions. Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the meaning of terms used in this chapter shall be as follows:
 - A. "Aircraft" includes airplanes and helicopters, but not hot air balloons or ultralights.
 - B. "Airport sponsor" is the owner, manager, person or entity designated to represent the interests of an airport. For the Scappoose Industrial

Airpark, the airport sponsor is the Port of St. Helens.

- C. "Airport compatible light industrial uses" are light industrial uses that do not create safety hazards or otherwise interfere with customary and usual aviation-related activities. (Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 726, 2002)
- 17.69.40 Permitted uses. The following uses and activities are permitted outright in the PUA zone:
- A. Customary and usual aviation-related activities, including but not limited to takeoffs and landings; aircraft hangars and tie-downs; construction and maintenance of airport facilities; fixed based operator facilities; a residence for an airport caretaker or security officer; and other activities incidental to the normal operation of an airport. Except as provided in this chapter, "customary and usual aviation related activities" do not include residential, commercial, industrial, manufacturing and other uses;
- B. Air passenger and air freight services and facilities, at levels consistent with the classification and needs identified in the Oregon Department of Aviation Airport System Plan;
- C. Emergency medical flight services, including activities, aircraft, accessory structures, and other facilities necessary to support emergency transportation for medical purposes. Emergency medical flight services do not include hospitals, medical offices, medical labs, medical equipment sales, and other similar uses;
- D. Law enforcement and firefighting activities, including aircraft and ground-based activities, facilities and accessory structures necessary to support federal, state or local law enforcement or land management agencies engaged in law enforcement or firefighting activities. Law enforcement and firefighting activities include transport of personnel, aerial observation, and transport of equipment, water, fire retardant and supplies;
- E. Search and rescue operations, including aircraft and ground based activities that promote the orderly and efficient conduct of search or rescue related activities.

- F. Flight instruction, including activities, facilities, and accessory structures located at airport sites that provide education and training directly related to aeronautical activities. Flight instruction includes ground training and aeronautic skills training, but does not include schools for flight attendants, ticket agents or similar personnel;
- G. Aircraft service, maintenance and training, including activities, facilities and accessory structures provided to teach aircraft service and maintenance skills and to maintain, service, refuel or repair aircraft or aircraft components. "Aircraft service, maintenance and training" includes the construction and assembly of aircraft and aircraft components for personal use, but does not include activities, structures or facilities for the manufacturing of aircraft or aircraft related products for sale to the public;
- H. Aircraft rental, including activities, facilities and accessory structures that support the provision of aircraft for rent or lease to the public;
- I. Aircraft sales and the sale of aeronautic equipment and supplies, including activities, facilities and accessory structures for the storage, display, demonstration and sales of aircraft and aeronautic equipment and supplies to the public but not including activities, facilities or structures for the manufacturing of aircraft or aircraft related products for sale to the public;
- J. Crop dusting activities, including activities, facilities and structures accessory to crop dusting operations. Crop dusting activities include, but are not limited to, aerial application of chemicals, seed, fertilizer, defoliant and other chemicals or products used in a commercial agricultural, forestry or rangeland management setting;
- K. Agricultural and forestry activities, including activities, facilities and accessory structures that qualify as a "farm use" as defined in ORS 215.203 or "farming practice" as defined in ORS 30.930;
- L. Manufacturing, assembly, processing, packaging, testing, treatment, repair, or distribution of aircraft or aircraft related components or products for sale to the public; and
- M. Other airport compatible light industrial uses. (Ord. 726 §2, 2002)

- 17.69.050 Uses permitted subject to the acceptance of the airport sponsor. The following uses and activities and their associated facilities and accessory structures are permitted in the PUA zone upon demonstration of acceptance by the airport sponsor: aeronautic recreational and sporting activities, including activities, facilities and accessory structures at airports that support recreational usage of aircraft and sporting activities that require the use of aircraft or other devices used and intended for use in flight. Aeronautic recreation and sporting activities authorized under this section include, but are not limited to, fly-ins; glider flights; ultralight aircraft flights; displays of aircraft; aeronautic flight skills contests; and gyrocopter flights, but do not include hot air ballooning, flights carrying parachutists or parachute drops (including all forms of skydiving). (2015; Ord. 726 §2, 2002)
- 17.69.60 Conditional uses. The following uses and their accessory uses may be permitted when authorized by the planning commission in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 17.130 (Conditional Use) of the Scappoose Development Code, other relevant sections of this title, and any conditions imposed by the planning commission:
 - A. Auto rental agencies;
 - B. Cafeterias and restaurants;
 - C. <u>Food cart pod (Type I or II), subject to</u> Chapter 17.126.
 - D. Motels; and
 - E. Other commercial uses customarily located at public use airports. (Ord. 726 §2, 2002; Ord. 846, 2015)

17.69.70 Dimensional requirements and development standards.

- A. Lot Size. There is no minimum lot size in the PUA zone.
- B. Setbacks. No front, side or rear yard setbacks except on lots abutting a residential district, where the minimum setback is fifty feet on the side abutting or facing the residential district.
- C. Screening. All outside storage areas require buffering and screening as defined in Chapter 17.100 (Landscaping) of the Scappoose Development Code.

- D. Uses shall be developed and located in a manner consistent with the most recent federally approved airport layout plan, the current Scappoose Industrial Airpark Airport Master Plan.
- E. Additional requirements shall include any applicable section of this title. (Ord. 869, 2018; Ord. 786 §4, 2006; Ord. 726 §2, 2002)

In the text below, language additions are double underlined.

Chapter 17.70

LI LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

Sections:

- 17.70.010 Purpose.
- 17.70.030 Permitted uses.
- 17.70.040 Conditional uses.
- 17.70.050 Dimensional requirements.
- 17.70.010 Purpose. The purpose of the light industrial zone is to:
- A. Provide appropriate locations for industrial use including light manufacturing and related activities with few, if any, nuisance characteristics such as noise, glare and smoke;
- B. To permit manufacturing, processing, assembling, packaging or treatment of produce or products from previously prepared materials; and
- C. To provide a wide variety of sites with good highway or rail access. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.70.030 Permitted uses. In the light industrial zone, activities are subject to site development review, Chapter 17.120, Site Development Review. Only the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:
- A. Agricultural sales and services including uses customarily carried on outdoors except slaughterhouses, tanneries or rendering plants;
- B. Animal sales and service including auctions, kennels and veterinary;
- C. Automobile and equipment sales, service and repair (new and used);
 - D. Bakeries;
 - E. Building maintenance services;
 - F. Building materials sales and service;
 - G. Caretaker dwelling;
 - H. Construction sales and services;
- I. Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter 17.142, Home Occupations;
 - J. Laundry services;
 - K. Research services;
- L. Retail facilities on sites greater than one hundred thousand square feet;

- M. Manufacturing of finished products;
- N. Manufacturing of components for use in finished products;
 - O. Packaging of previously processed materials;
- P. Participation sports and recreation: indoor and outdoors;
 - Q. Processing and packing of food products;
- R. Processing of previously processed materials for use in components or finished products;
- S. Processing of materials for use in any construction or building trades;
 - T. Public support facilities;
 - U. Parking facilities;
 - V. Public safety services;
- W. Transportation terminals and storage yards, provided that a five-foot landscaped perimeter setback surrounds all outdoor parking, all storage areas are buffered and screened in accordance with Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and Fencing, and all repair work is performed indoors;
 - X. Vehicle fuel/convenience sales;
 - Y. Wholesale, storage and distribution;
- Z. Any permitted use on a temporary basis subject to Scappoose Municipal Code 17.128, Temporary Commercial and Industrial Uses;
- AA. Wireless communications facilities, not to include antenna support structures, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.93. (Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 705 §1(part), 2001; Ord. 698 §3, 2000; Ord. 636 §1(part), 1996; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.70.040 Conditional uses. The following uses and their accessory uses may be permitted when authorized by the planning commission in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 17.130, Conditional Use, other relevant sections of this title and any conditions imposed by the planning commission:
 - A. Eating and drinking establishments;
- B. Commercial amusement facilities including bowling alleys, video arcades, and movie theaters other than adult motion picture theaters;
- C. Home occupations (Type II) subject to Chapter 17.142, Home Occupations;
- D. Recycle stations, provided that a ten-foot perimeter setback containing both externally visible landscaping meeting buffering standards and solid screening surrounds the property, all operations are conducted entirely within buildings, and all

building setbacks shall be a minimum of thirty feet from any property line;

- E. Major impact utilities, provided that a ten-foot perimeter setback containing both externally visible landscaping meeting buffering standards and screening surrounds property;
- F. Wireless communication facilities, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.93;
- G. Mini-storage with or without a caretaker dwelling, provided that the facility size is three acres or less and that no adjoining sites or properties have mini-storage facilities.
- H. Institutions of higher education, provided that the parcel size is 50 acres or less;
- I. Food cart pod (Type I or II), subject to Chapter 17.126.
 Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 829, 2013; Ord. 705 §1(part), 2001; Ord.
 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.70.050 Dimensional requirements. A. Unless otherwise specified, the minimum setback requirements are as follows:
- 1. The front yard setback shall be a minimum of twenty feet;
- 2. On corner lots the minimum setback for the side facing the street shall be five feet;
- 3. On through lots, the front and rear setback shall be a minimum of twenty feet;
- 4. No additional side or rear yard setback shall be required except fifty feet shall be required where abutting a residential zoning district and the planning commission may reduce this required yard setback by fifty percent pursuant to Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and Fencing.
- B. No building shall exceed fifty feet in height. Within one hundred feet of a residential zone, no building shall exceed thirty-five feet in height.
- C. All outside storage areas require buffering and screening as defined in Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and Fencing.
- D. Additional requirements shall include any applicable section of this title. (Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 663 §7, 1998; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)

Exhibit D

In the text below, language to be omitted is strikethrough, and proposed language additions are double underlined.

Chapter 17.162

PROCEDURES FOR DECISION MAKING--QUASI-JUDICIAL

Sections:

- 17.162.010 Purpose.
- 17.162.020 Application process.
- 17.162.021 Consolidation of proceedings.
- 17.162.025 Noticing requirements.
- 17.162.030 Contents of notice for public hearings.
- 17.162.040 Failure to receive notice.
- 17.162.050 Time period for decision making.
- 17.162.090 Approval authority responsibilities.
- 17.162.110 Decision by the planner--No hearing required.
- 17.162.120 Notice of decision by the planner.
- 17.162.130 Hearings procedure.
- 17.162.140 Decision process.
- 17.162.150 Denial of the application -- Re-submittal.
- 17.162.160 Record may remain open--Admission of new evidence.
- 17.162.170 Ex parte communications with approval authority.
- 17.162.180 Continuation of the hearing.
- 17.162.200 Evidence.
- 17.162.210 Judicial notice.
- 17.162.220 Participation in the decision--Voting.
- 17.162.230 Record of proceeding for public hearings.
- 17.162.240 Form of the final decision.
- 17.162.250 Notice of final decision.
- 17.162.260 Amending a decision by the planner.
- 17.162.270 Standing to appeal.
- 17.162.280 Computation of appeal period.
- 17.162.290 Determination of appropriate appeal body.
- 17.162.300 Type of appeal hearing--Limitations of appeal.
- 17.162.310 Transcripts.
- 17.162.320 Notice of appeal.
- 17.162.330 Fee waivers.
- 17.162.340 Persons entitled to notice of appeal-Type of notice.
- 17.162.350 Contents of notice of appeal.
- 17.162.360 Action on appeal.
- 17.162.380 Effective date of final action.
- 17.162.390 Revocation of approvals.
- 17.162.010 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to establish procedures for the consideration of development applications, for the consideration of quasi-judicial comprehensive plan or zoning amendments and for appeal of quasi-judicial decisions. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.020 Application process. A. The applicant shall be required to meet with the planner for a pre-application conference. Such a requirement may be waived in writing by the applicant.
- B. The planner will invite city staff from other departments to provide technical expertise applicable to the proposal, as necessary, as well as other public agency staff.
 - C. At such conference, the planner shall:

- 1. Cite the applicable comprehensive plan policies and map designation;
- 2. Cite the applicable substantive and procedural ordinance provisions;
- 3. Provide available technical data and assistance which will aid the applicant as provided by the public works director;
- 4. Identify other policies and regulations that relate to the application; and
- 5. Identify other opportunities or constraints that relate to the application.
- D. Another preapplication conference is required if an application is submitted six months after the preapplication conference.
- E. Failure of the planner to provide any of the information required by this chapter shall not constitute a waiver of the standards, criteria or requirements of the applications. Neither the city nor the planner shall be liable for any incorrect information provided in the preapplication conferences.
- F. Applications for approval required under this title may be initiated by:
 - 1. Resolution of the city council;
 - 2. Resolution of the planning commission;
 - 3. The planner;
- 4. A recognized neighborhood planning organization or city advisory board or commission; or
- 5. Application of a record owner of property or contract purchaser.
- G. Any persons authorized by this title to submit an application for approval may be represented by an agent authorized in writing to make the application.
- H. The application shall be made on forms provided by the planner.
 - I. The application shall:
- 1. Include the information requested on the application form:
- 2. Address appropriate criteria in sufficient detail for review and action; and
 - 3. Be accompanied by the required fee.
- J. The planner may require information in addition to that required by a specific provision of this title, provided the planner determines this information is needed to properly evaluate the proposed development proposal; and the need can be justified on the basis of a special or unforeseen circumstance.
- K. The planner may waive the submission of information for a specific requirement provided the planner finds that specific information is not necessary to properly evaluate the application; or the planner finds that a specific approval standard is not applicable to the application.
- L. Where a requirement is found by the planner to be inapplicable, the planner shall:
- 1. Indicate for the record and to the applicant the specific requirements found inapplicable; and
- 2. Advise the applicant in writing that the finding may be challenged on appeal or at the hearing or decision on the matter and may be denied by the approval authority; and
- 3. Cite in the staff report on the application the specific requirements found inapplicable, the reasons therefor and the specific grant of authority.
- M. An application shall be deemed incomplete unless it addresses each element required to be considered under applicable

provisions of this title and the application form, unless that requirement has been found inapplicable by the planner. The planner shall not accept an incomplete application.

N. If an application is incomplete, the planner shall:

- 1. Notify the applicant within thirty days of receipt of the application of exactly what information is missing; and
 - 2. Allow the applicant to submit the missing information.
- O. The application shall be deemed complete when the missing information is provided and at that time the one hundred twenty-day time period shall begin to run for the purposes of satisfying state law
- P. If the applicant refuses to submit the missing information, the application shall be deemed incomplete on the thirty-first day after the planner first received the application and returned to the applicant.
- Q. Referrals will be sent to interested agencies such as city departments, police department, fire district, school district, utility companies, and applicable city, county, and state agencies. Affected jurisdiction and agencies could include the Department of Environmental Quality, the Oregon Department of Transportation, and Columbia County Rider. (Ord. 634 91 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.021 Consolidation of proceedings. A. Except as provided in subsection C of this section, whenever an applicant requests more than one approval and more than one approval authority is required to decide the applications, the proceedings shall be consolidated so that one approval authority shall decide all applications in one proceeding.
- B. In such cases as stated in subsection A of this section, the hearings shall be held by the approval authority having original jurisdiction over one of the applications under Section 17.164.110, in the following order of preference: the council, the commission, or the planner.
 - C. Where there is a consolidation of proceedings:
 - 1. The notice shall identify each action to be taken;
- 2. The decision on a plan map amendment shall precede the decision on the proposed zone change and other actions. Plan map amendments are not subject to the one hundred twenty-day decision making period prescribed by state law and such amendments may involve complex issues. Therefore, the planner shall not be required to consolidate a plan map amendment and a zone change or other permit applications requested unless the applicant requests the proceedings be consolidated and signs a waiver of the one hundred twenty-day time limit prescribed by state law for zone change and permit applications; and
 - 3. Separate actions shall be taken on each application.
 - D. Consolidated Permit Procedure.
- 1. Use of the consolidated permit procedures described in this section shall be at the election of the applicant.
- 2. When the consolidated procedure is elected, application and fee requirements shall remain as provided by resolution approved by the council. If more than one permit is required by this title or other ordinance to be heard by the planning commission or city council, each such hearing shall be combined with any other permit also requiring such hearing. The standards applicable to each permit by this or any other ordinance shall be applied in the consolidated procedures to each application.
- 3. In a consolidated proceeding, the staff report and recommendation provided by the planner shall be consolidated into a single report.

- 4. All rules and ordinances of the city not in conflict with this section shall apply in a consolidated permit procedure. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.025 Noticing requirements. A. Notice of a pending quasi-judicial public hearing shall be given by the planner in the following manner:
- 1. At least twenty days prior to the scheduled hearing date, or if two or more hearings are scheduled, ten days prior to the first hearing, notice shall be sent by mail to:
- a. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers of record of the property which is the subject of the application;
- b. All property owners of record or the most recent property tax assessment roll within three hundred feet of the property which is the subject of the notice plus any properties abutting proposed off-site improvements.
- c. Any governmental agency or utility whose property, services or facilities may be affected by the decision. The reviewing City Staff shall determine the extent of notice to public agencies or utilities based on perceived interest or impact; noticed agencies may include:
 - i. Columbia County Land Development Services;
 - ii. Columbia County Road Department;
 - iii. Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT);
 - iv. ODOT Rail Division;
 - v. Portland & Western Railroad;
 - vi. Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District;
 - vii. Port of St. Helens;
 - viii. Oregon Department of Aviation;
 - ix. Scappoose School District;
 - x. Columbia County Soil Conservation District;
 - xi. Scappoose Drainage Improvement Company; or
 - xii. Any other affected agencies as identified

by the planner;

- d. Acknowledged neighborhood planning organizations, if active;
 - e. Any person who requests, in writing; and
 - f. The appellant and all parties to an appeal.
- 2. At least thirty-five days before the initial hearing on adoption of any proposal to amend the comprehensive plan map or zoning map, notice shall be sent to the Department of Land Conservation and Development;
- 3. Notice of a hearing on a proposed zone change for a manufactured home park shall be given to tenants of that manufactured home park at least twenty days but no more than forty days prior to the hearing; and
- 4. The planner shall cause an affidavit of mailing of notice to be filed and made a part of the administrative record.
- B. For all quasi-judicial decisions requiring a public hearing, the applicant shall post signs provided by the planner displaying notice of the pending hearing at least fourteen days prior to the date of the hearing. One sign shall be required for each three hundred feet, or part thereof, of frontage of the subject property on any street. The content, design, size and location of the signs shall be as determined by the planner to assure that the information is legible from the public right-of-way. As a precondition to a hearing, the applicant shall file an affidavit of such posting with the planner no less than ten days prior to the hearing.

- C. For all quasi-judicial decisions requiring a public hearing, at least ten days prior to the hearing, notice shall be given in a newspaper of general circulation in the city. An affidavit of publication shall be made part of the administrative record. (Ord. 828, 2013; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.030 Contents of the notice for public hearings. Notice given to persons entitled to mailed or published notice pursuant to Section 17.28.120 17.162.025 shall include the following information:
- A. A description of the subject property, the street address if available, and a general location which shall include tax map designations from the county assessor's office;
- B. Except for notice published in the newspaper, a map showing the location of the property;
- C. An explanation of the nature of the application and the proposed use or uses which could be authorized; D. The applicable criteria from the ordinances and comprehensive plan that apply to the application;
 - E. The time, place and date of the public hearing;
- F. A statement that both public oral and written testimony is invited, a general explanation of the requirements for submission of evidence and the procedure for conduct of the hearing;
- G. State that copies of all evidence relied upon by the applicant are available for review, and that copies can be obtained at cost;
- H. A statement that all documents or evidence in the file are available for inspection at no cost, or copies at a reasonable cost;
- I. A statement that a copy of the staff report will be available for inspection at no cost, or copies at reasonable cost, at least seven days prior to the hearing;
- J. A statement that failure to raise an issue in the hearing or during the comment period, in person or by letter, or failure to provide sufficient specific detail to give the decision maker or hearing body an opportunity to respond to the issue, precludes appeal to the land use board of appeals on that issue. Issues shall be raised with sufficient specificity to enable the decision maker to respond to the issue. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.040 Failure to receive notice. A. Where either the planning commission or council or both intend to hold more than one public hearing on the same application, notice of several public hearings before both approval authorities may be given in one notice.
- B. The failure of a property owner to receive notice shall not invalidate the action provided a good faith attempt was made to notify all persons entitled to notice.
- C. Personal notice is deemed given when the notice is deposited with the United States Postal Service.
- D. Published notice is deemed given on the date it is published.
- E. In computing the length of time that notice is given, the first date notice is given shall be excluded and the day of the hearing or the date on which the appeal period expires shall be included unless the last day falls on any legal holiday or on Saturday, in which case, the last day shall be the next business day
- Saturday, in which case, the last day shall be the next business day.

 F. The records of the Columbia County assessor's office shall be the official records used for giving notice required in this title, and a person's name and address which is not on file at the time the notice mailing list is initially prepared is not a person entitled to notice. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.050 Time period for decision making. The city shall take final action on an application for a permit, plan change or zone

change, including the resolution of all appeals, within one hundred twenty days after the application is deemed complete, except:

- A. The one hundred twenty-day period may be extended for a reasonable period of time at the request of the applicant;
- B. The one hundred twenty-day period applies only to a decision wholly within the authority and control of the city; and
- C. The one hundred twenty-day period does not apply to an amendment to an acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use regulation. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.090 Approval authority responsibilities. A. The planner shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with conditions the following applications:
 - 1. Interpretations subject to Section 17.01.050;
- 2. Determination of parking requirements for unlisted uses;
- 3. Determination of access, egress and circulation plan (not subject to planning commission approval) pursuant to public works design standards;
- 4. Sign, sign exception, and sign variance pursuant to Chapter 17.114;
 - 5. Minor variance pursuant to Chapter 17.134;
 - 6. Type I home occupation pursuant to Chapter 17.142;
- 7. Sensitive land permits (for applications not subject to planning commission approval) pursuant to Chapter 17.84, Chapter 17.85, Chapter 17.86, and Chapter 17.89; and
- 8. Public land tree removal not associated with timber harvesting and clearing from designated public recreation areas.
- B. Type I Food cart pod permits, subject to Chapter 17.126.

 B. The planner may refer any application for review to the planning commission.
- C. The planning commission shall conduct a public hearing in the manner prescribed by this chapter and shall have the authority to approve, approve with conditions, approve with modifications or deny the following development applications:
- 1. Recommendations for applicable comprehensive plan and zoning district designations to city council for lands annexed to the city;
- 2. A quasi-judicial comprehensive plan map amendment except the planning commission's function shall be limited to a recommendation to the council. The commission may transmit its recommendation in any form and a final order need not be formally adopted;
- 3.A quasi-judicial zoning map amendment shall be decided in the same manner as a quasi-judicial plan amendment and is subject to 17.160.120(C);
 - 4. Conditional use pursuant to Chapter 17.130;
 - 5. Major variance pursuant to Chapter 17.134;
- 6. Sensitive land permits and variances pursuant to Chapter 17.84, Chapter 17.85, and Chapter 17.86 for applications requiring planning commission action;
- 7. Type II home occupation pursuant to Chapter 17.142;
- 8. Historic overlay district exterior alteration and new construction applications pursuant to Chapter 17.82;
- 9. Public land tree removal associated with timber harvesting and clearing from designated public recreation areas;
 - 10. Authorization of Similar Use pursuant to Chapter 17.43;

- 11. Fence or fence/berm combination greater than eight feet in height;
- 12. Conceptual master plan or modification of conceptual master plan pursuant to Chapter 17.74;
- 13. Type II Food cart pod permits, subject to Chapter 17.126.
- $\frac{13.14}{1}$. Appeal of a decision made by the planner; and 14.15. Any other matter not specifically assigned to the planner, or the city council under this title.
- D. Upon appeal or recommendation, the city council shall conduct a public hearing in the manner prescribed by this chapter and shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with conditions the following development applications:
- 1. Annexations and the formal imposition of plan and zone designations made to lands annexed to the city;
- 2. Quasi-judicial plan and zone amendments, including overlay zones;
- 3. Creation, modification or removal of a historic overlay designation or demolition of a historic site, structure or landmark pursuant to Chapter 17.82;
- 4. Matters referred to the council by the planning commission;
- 5. Review of decisions of the planning commission, whether on the council's own motion or otherwise. (Ord. 857, 2016; Ord. 828, 2013; Ord. 820 §12, 2012; Ord. 817, 2011; Ord. 736 §1, 2003; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.110 Decision by the planner--No hearing required. A. Pursuant to Section 17.162.090(A), the planner is authorized to make certain decisions, and no hearing shall be held unless:
 - 1. An appeal is filed; or
- 2. The planner has an interest in the outcome of the decision, due to some past or present involvement with the applicant, other interested persons or in the property or surrounding property. In such cases, the application shall be treated as if it were filed under Section 17.162.090(C).
- B. The decision shall be based on the approval criteria set forth in Section 17.162.140.
- C. Notice of the decision by the planner shall be given as provided by Section 17.162.120 and notice shall be governed by the provisions of Section 17.162.030 and Section 17.162.040.
 - The record shall include:
- 1. A copy of the application and all supporting information, plans, exhibits, graphics, etc.;
 - 2. All correspondence relating to the application;
- 3. All information considered by the planner in making the decision;
- 4. The staff report of the planner;5. A list of the conditions, if any are attached to the approval of the application; and
- 6. A copy of the notice advising of the planner's decision, a list of all persons who were given mailed notice and accompanying affidavits.
- E. Standing to appeal shall be as provided by Section 17.162.200.
- F. The appeal period shall be computed as provided by Section 17.162.210.
- G. The method for taking the appeal shall be as provided by Subsection $17.162.220\,(A)$ and the notice of appeal submitted by an appellant shall be as provided by Section 17.162.250.
 - H. The hearing on the appeal shall be confined to the prior

- record as provided in Section 17.162.300.

 I. Notice of the final decision on appeal shall be as provided by Section 17.162.250 and Section 17.162.240.
- J. No decision by the planner may be modified from that set out in the notice except upon being given new notice.
- K. The action on the appeal shall be as provided by Section
- L. A decision by the commission on an appeal of a planner's decision may be appealed to the council.
- M. Re-submittal shall be as provided by Section 17.162.150, Denial of Application: Re-submittal.
- N. The provisions of Section 17.162.390, Revocation of Approvals apply to a decision by the Planner. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.120 Notice of decision by the planner. A. Notice of the planner's decision on an application pursuant to Section 17.162.090(A) shall be given by the planner in the following manner:
- 1. Within five days of signing the proposed decision, notice shall be sent by mail to:
- a. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers of record of the property which is the subject of the application;
- b. All surrounding property owners or record of property within three hundred feet of the property for administrative variances and sensitive lands;
- c. All owners of record of property immediately
- abutting a site for home occupations and Type I food cart pods;
 d. The applicant for a planner's interpretation or a
 planner's decision regarding an extension of approval;
 e. The recognized neighborhood planning organization;
- f. Any governmental agency which is entitled to notice under an intergovernmental agreement entered into with the city which includes provision for such notice; and
 - g. Any person who requests notice in writing.
- B. The planner shall cause an affidavit of mailing to be filed and made a part of the administrative record.
 - C. Notice of a decision by the planner shall contain:
- 1. The nature of the application in sufficient detail to apprise persons entitled to notice of the applicant's proposal and of the decision;
- 2. The address and general location of the subject property;
- 3. A statement of where the adopted findings of fact, decision and statement of conditions can be obtained;
 - 4. The date the planner's decision will become final;
- 5. A statement that a person entitled to notice or adversely affected or aggrieved by the decision may appeal the decision:
- a. The statement shall explain briefly how an appeal can be made, the deadlines and where information can be obtained, and b. The statement shall explain that if an appeal is not filed, the decision shall be final;
- 6. A map showing the location of the property (planner's interpretations are exempt from this requirement); and
- 7. A statement that the hearing on an appeal will be confined to the prior record. (Ord. 828, 2013; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.130 Hearings procedure. A. Unless otherwise provided in this title or other ordinances adopted by council:
 - 1. The presiding officer of the planning commission and of

the council shall have the authority to:

- a. Determine standing;
- b. Regulate the course, sequence and decorum of the
 - c. Dispose of procedural requirements or similar

matters;

hearing;

- d. Rule on offers of proof and relevancy of evidence and testimony;
- e. Impose reasonable limitations on the number of witnesses heard and set reasonable time limits for oral presentation and rebuttal testimony; and
- f. Take such other action appropriate for conduct commensurate with the nature of the hearing;
- B. Unless otherwise provided in this title or other ordinances adopted by council, the presiding officer of the planning commission and of the council shall conduct the hearing as follows:
- 1. Opening statement: announce the nature and purpose of the hearing and summarize the rules of conducting the hearing, and if

the proceeding is an initial evidentiary hearing before the planning commission or the city council, make a statement that:

- a. Lists the applicable substantive criteria;
- b. States that testimony and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described in subdivision (1) (a) of this subsection, or to the other criteria in the comprehensive plan or the title which they apply to the decision;
- c. States that failure to raise an issue with sufficient specificity to afford the decision-maker and the parties an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the land use board of appeals on that issue.
 - 2. Quasi-judicial hearing process:
 - a. Recognize parties;
- b. Request the planner to present the staff report, to explain any graphic or pictorial displays which are a part of the report, summarize the findings, recommendations and conditions, if any, and to provide such other information as may be requested by the approval authority;
- c. Allow the applicant or a representative of the applicant to be heard;
- d. Allow parties or witnesses in favor of the applicant's proposal to be heard;
- e. Allow parties or witnesses in opposition to the applicant's proposal to be heard;
- f. Upon failure of any party to appear, the approval authority shall take into consideration written material submitted by such party;
- g. Allow the parties in favor of the proposal to offer rebuttal evidence and testimony limited to rebuttal of points raised.
- h. Make a decision pursuant to Section 17.162.140 or take the matter under advisement pursuant to Section 17.162.180.
- C. Unless otherwise provided in this title or other ordinances adopted by the council, the following rules shall apply to the general conduct of the hearing:
- 1. The approval authority may ask questions at any time before the close of the hearing, and the answers shall be limited to the substance of the question;
- 2. Parties or the planner must receive approval from the approval authority to submit questions directly to other parties or witnesses or the planner;
- 3. A reasonable amount of time shall be given to persons to respond to questions;
 - 4. No person shall testify without first receiving

recognition from the approval authority and stating his full name and address;

- 5. The approval authority may require that testimony be under oath or affirmation;
- 6. Audience demonstrations such as applause, cheering and display of signs, or other conduct disruptive of the hearing shall not be permitted. Any such conduct may be cause for immediate suspension of the hearing or removal of persons responsible; and
- 7. No person shall be disorderly, abusive or disruptive of the orderly conduct of the hearing. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- $\frac{17.162.140\ \text{Decision process.}}{1.\ \text{Proof by the applicant that the application fully complies with:}}$
- a. Applicable policies of the city comprehensive plan; and
- b. The relevant approval standards found in the applicable chapter(s) of this title, the public works design standards, and other applicable implementing ordinances.
 - B. Consideration may also be given to:
- 1. Proof of a substantial change in circumstances or a mistake in the comprehensive plan or zoning map as it relates to the property which is the subject of the development application; and
- 2. Factual oral testimony or written statements from the parties, other persons and other governmental agencies relevant to the existing conditions, other applicable standards and criteria, possible negative or positive attributes of the proposal or factors in subsections (A) or (B) (1) of this section.
- C. In all cases, the decision shall include a statement in a form addressing the planner's staff report.
 - D. The approval authority may:
- 1. Adopt findings and conclusions contained in the staff report;
- 2. Adopt findings and conclusions of a lower approval authority;
 - 3. Adopt its own findings and conclusions;
- 4. Adopt findings and conclusions submitted by any party provided all parties have had an opportunity to review the findings and comment on the same; or
- 5. Adopt findings and conclusions from another source, either with or without modification, having made a tentative decision, and having directed staff to prepare findings for review and to provide an opportunity for all parties to comment on the same.
- E. The decision may be for denial, approval or approval with conditions.
- 1. Conditions may be imposed where such conditions are necessary to:
- a. Carry out applicable provisions of the Scappoose comprehensive plan;
 - b. Carry out the applicable implementing ordinances;
- and

 c. Ensure that adequate public services are provided to the development or to ensure that other required improvements are made;
 - 2. Conditions may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Minimum lot sizes;
 - b. Larger setbacks;
 - c. Preservation of significant natural features;
 - d. Dedication of easements; and
- e. Conveyances and dedications of property needed for public use.
 - 3. Conditions of approval shall be fulfilled within the

time limit set forth in the decision or, if no time limit is set forth, the conditions of approval shall be fulfilled within one year. Failure to fulfill any condition of approval within the time limitations provided may be grounds for revocation of approval, after notice and an opportunity to be heard as a quasi-judicial action;

- 4. Changes, alterations or amendments to the substance of the conditions of approval shall be processed as a new action;
- 5. Prior to the commencement of development, i.e., the issuance of any permits or the taking of any action under the approved development application, the owner and any contract purchasers of the property which is the subject of the approved application, may be required to sign and deliver to the planner their acknowledgment in a development agreement and consent to such conditions:
- a. The city manager shall have the authority to execute the development agreement on behalf of the city,
- b. No building permit shall be issued for the use covered by the application until the executed contract is recorded and filed in the county records, and
- c. Such development agreement shall be enforceable against the signing parties, their heirs, successors and assigns by the city by appropriate action in law or suit in equity;
- 6. A bond in a form acceptable to the city or a cash deposit from the property owners or contract purchasers for the full amount as will ensure compliance with the conditions imposed pursuant to this subsection may be required. Such bond or deposit shall be posted prior to the issuance of a building permit for the use covered by the application.
- F. The final decision on the application may grant less than all of the parcel which is the subject of the application.
- G. If the planning commission fails to recommend approval, approval with modification, or denial of an application within sixty days of its first public hearing, the planner shall:
- 1. Report the failure to approve a recommendation to the council; and
- 2. Cause notice to be given, the matter to be placed on the council's agenda, a public hearing to be held and a decision to be made by the council. No further action shall be taken by the planning commission. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.150 Denial of the application--Re-submittal. An application which has been denied or an application which was denied and which on appeal has not been reversed by a higher authority, including the land use board of appeals, the land conservation and development commission or the courts, may not be resubmitted for the same or a substantially similar proposal or for the same or substantially similar action for a period of at least twelve months from the date the final city action is made denying the application unless there is a substantial change in the facts or a change in city policy which would change the outcome. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.160 Record may remain open--Admission of new evidence. A. Unless there is a continuance, the record shall remain open for new evidence for at least seven days at the request of any participant in the initial evidentiary hearing before the planning commission or the city council, if the request is made prior to the conclusion of the hearing.
- B. When the record is left open to admit new evidence, testimony, or criteria for decision-making, any person may raise new issues which relate to that new material. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part),

- 17.162.170 Ex parte communications with approval authority. A. Members of the approval authority shall not:
- 1. Communicate, directly or indirectly, with any party or representative of a party in connection with any issue involved except upon giving notice and opportunity for all parties to participate; nor
- 2. Take notice of any communication, report or other materials outside the record prepared by the proponents or opponents in connection with the particular case unless the parties are afforded an opportunity to contest the material so noticed.
- afforded an opportunity to contest the material so noticed.

 B. No decision or action of the planning commission or council shall be invalid due to an ex parte contact or bias resulting from an ex parte contact with a member of the decision-making body, if the member of the decision making body receiving the contact:
- 1. Places on the record the substance of any written or oral ex parte communications concerning the decision or action; and
- 2. Makes a public announcement of the content of the communication and of the parties' right to rebut the substance of the communication made at the first hearing following the communication where action will be considered or taken on the subject to which the communication related.
- C. Members of the planning commission shall be governed by the provisions of Oregon Revised Statute 227.035 and the provisions of this section.
- D. This section shall not apply to planner decisions made under Section 17.162.090(A).
- E. A communication between any city employee and the planning commission or council shall not be considered an ex parte contact. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.180 Continuation of the hearing. A. An approval authority may continue the hearing from time to time to gather additional evidence, to consider the application fully or to give notice to additional persons.
- B. Unless otherwise provided by the approval authority, no additional notice need be given of a continued hearing if the matter is continued to a date, time and place certain. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- $\underline{17.162.200}$ Evidence. A. All evidence offered and not objected to may be received unless excluded by the approval authority on its own motion.
- B. Evidence received at any hearing shall be of a quality that reasonable persons rely upon in the conduct of their everyday affairs.
- C. No person shall present irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious testimony or evidence.
- D. Evidence shall be received and notice may be taken of those facts in a manner similar to that provided for in contested cases before state administrative agencies pursuant to ORS 183.450, except as otherwise provided for in this title.
- E. Formal rules of evidence, as used in courts of law, shall not apply. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.210 Judicial notice. A. The approval authority may take notice of the following:
- 1. All facts which are judicially noticeable. Such noticed facts shall be stated and made part of the record;
- 2. The Statewide Planning Goals and regulations adopted pursuant to Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 197; and

- 3. The comprehensive plan and other officially adopted plans, implementing ordinances, rules and regulations of the city.
- B. Matters judicially noticed need not be established by evidence and may be considered by the approval authority in the determination of the application. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.220 Participation in the decision--Voting. A. In addition to the provision of Oregon Revised Statute 227.035 which applies to planning commission members or Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 244 which applies to all members of an approval authority, each member of the approval authority shall be impartial. Any member having any substantial past or present involvement with the applicant, other interested persons, the property or surrounding property, or having a financial interest in the outcome of the proceeding, or having any pre-hearing contacts, shall state for the record the nature of their involvement or contacts, and shall either:
- 1. State that they are not prejudiced by the involvement or contacts and will participate and vote on the matter; or
- 2. State that they are prejudiced by the involvement or contact and will withdraw from participation in the matter.
- B. An affirmative vote by a majority of the qualified voting members of the approval authority who are present is required to approve, approve with conditions, or deny an application or to amend, modify, or reverse a decision on appeal.
- C. Notwithstanding subsections A and B of this section, no member of an approval authority having a financial interest in the outcome of an application shall take part in proceedings on that application; provided, however, with respect to the council only, a member may vote upon a finding of necessity which shall be placed on the record by the presiding officer.
- D. In an appeal, if there is a tie vote, the decision which is the subject of appeal shall stand. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.230 Record of proceeding for public hearings. A. A verbatim record of the proceeding shall be made by mechanical means (such as a tape recording), and:
- 1. It shall not be necessary to transcribe testimony except as provided for in Section 17.162.310.
- 2. The minutes or (if applicable) transcript of testimony, or other evidence of the proceedings, shall be part of the record.
- B. All exhibits received shall be marked so as to provide identification upon review.
 - C. The record shall include:
- 1. All materials, pleadings, memoranda, stipulations and motions submitted by any party to the proceeding and recorded or considered by the approval authority as evidence;
- 2. All materials submitted by the planner to the approval authority with respect to the application including in the case of an appeal taken pursuant to Section 17.162.270, the record of the planner's decision as provided by Section 17.162.110;
- 3. The transcript of the hearing, if requested by the council or a party, or the minutes of the hearing, or other evidence of the proceedings before the approval authority;
- 4. The written findings, conclusions, decision and, if any, conditions of approval of the approval authority;
- 5. Argument by the parties or their legal representatives permitted in Section 17.162.300 at the time of review before the council;
- 6. All correspondence relating to the application; and
 7. A copy of the notice which was given as provided by
 Section 17.162.030, accompanying affidavits and list of persons who

were sent mailed notice. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)

- 17.162.240 Form of the final decision. A. The final decision shall be a decision which is in writing and which has been signed by the planner.
- B. The final decision shall be filed in the records of the planner within ten calendar days after the decision is made by the approval authority and notice thereof shall be mailed to the applicant and all parties in the action, and shall be available to the approval authority. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.250 Notice of final decision. A. Notice of a final decision shall briefly summarize the decision and contain:
- 1. A statement that all required notices under Section 17.162.025;
- 2. A statement of where the adopted findings of fact, decision and statement of conditions can be obtained;
 - 3. The date the final decision was filed; and
- 4. A statement of whether a party to the proceeding may seek appeal of the decision, as appropriate, to wit:
- a. In the case of a final decision by the council, the statement shall explain that this decision is final and how appeal may be heard by a higher authority; or
- b. In the case of a final decision by the planning commission, the statement shall explain briefly how an appeal can be taken to the council pursuant to Section 17.162.290, the deadlines, and where information can be obtained.
- B. Notice of the final decision by the planning commission or council shall be mailed to the applicant and to all the parties to the decision and shall be made available to the members of the council. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.260 Amending a decision by the planner. A. The planner may issue an amended decision after the notice of final decision has been issued and prior to the end of the ten-day appeal period.
- B. A request for an amended decision shall be in writing and filed with the planner not more than eight days after the notice of final decision has been filed.
 - C. A request for an amended decision may be filed by:
- 1. The recognized neighborhood planning organization affected by the initial decision;
 - 2. Resolution of the city council;
 - 3. Resolution of the planning commission;
 - 4. The planner;

or

- 5. Any party entitled to notice of the original decision;
- 6. Any party who submitted comments in writing on the original decision.
- D. The amended decision process shall be limited to one time for each original application.
- E. The planner shall make the determination as to issuance of an amended decision based on findings that one or more of the following conditions exist:
- 1. An error or omission was made on the original notice of final decision;
- 2. The original decision was based on incorrect information and incorrect information may only be considered in administrative actions before the planner;
- 3. New information becomes available during the appeal period which was not available when the decision was made which alters the facts or conditions in the original decision. New information may only be considered in administrative actions before

the planner.

- F. An amended decision shall be processed in accordance with Section 17.162.120 of this title. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.270 Standing to appeal. A. In the case of a decision by the planner, any person entitled to notice of the decision under this chapter, or any person who is adversely affected or aggrieved by the decision, may file a notice of appeal as provided by Section 17.162.320.
- B. In the case of a decision by the planning commission, except for a decision on an appeal of the planner's decision, any person shall be considered a party to a matter, thus having standing to seek appeal, provided:
- 1. The person appeared before the planning commission orally or in writing:
- a. The person was entitled as of right to notice and hearing prior to the decision to be reviewed; or b. The person is aggrieved or has interests adversely affected by the decision. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.280 Computation of appeal period. A. The length of the appeal period shall be fifteen days from the date of mailing the notice of decision.
- B. In computing the length of the appeal period, the day that notice of the decision is mailed shall be excluded and the last day for filing the appeal shall be included unless the last day falls on a legal holiday for the city or on a Saturday, in which case, the last day shall be the next business day. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.290 Determination of appropriate appeal body. A. All appeals of decisions or interpretations made by the planner may be appealed to the planning commission or pursuant to Section 17.162.090 except the council may, on its own motion, seek to hear the matter by voice vote prior to the effective date of the notice of the decision.
- B. Any decision made by the planning commission under this chapter may be reviewed by the council by:
- 1. The filing of a notice of appeal as provided by Section 17.162.320, by any party to the decision by three thirty p.m. on the last day of the appeal period;
- 2. The council or planning commission, on its own motion, seeking appeal by voice vote prior to the end of the appeal period; or
- 3. Referral of a matter under Section 17.162.090 (D) by the initial hearings body to the council, upon closure of the hearing, when the case presents a policy issue which requires council deliberation and determination, in which case the council shall decide the application.
- C. Failure to file an available appeal shall be deemed a failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The filing of available appeals is a condition precedent to appeal to the land use board of appeals. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.300 Type of appeal hearing--Limitations of appeal. A. The appeal of a decision made by the planner under Section 17.162.090(A) or Section 17.162.110, shall be confined to the prior record and conducted as if brought under Section 17.162.090(B) or (C).
- B. The appeal of a decision of the planning commission to the council shall be:
- 1. Confined to the record of the proceedings unless council determines the admission of additional evidence is

appropriate;

- 2. Limited to the grounds relied upon in the notice of appeal and the hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.
- C. The subject of written and oral argument. Such written argument shall be submitted not less than five days prior to council consideration; and
- D. Reviews on the record by council of planning commission decisions shall be completed within forty days of when the notice of appeal is filed. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.310 Transcripts. A. The appellant shall be responsible to satisfy all costs incurred for preparation of the transcript. An estimated payment shall be made prior to the preparation of the transcript; any additional actual cost shall be paid prior to the hearing or if the actual cost is less than the estimate the remainder shall be returned.
- B. Any party other than the appellant that requests a transcript shall be charged the actual copy costs. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.320 Notice of appeal. A. The notice of appeal shall be filed within the appeal period and contain:
 - 1. A reference to the application sought to be appealed;
 - 2. A statement of the petitioner's standing to the appeal;
 - 3. The specific grounds for the appeal; and
- 4. The date of the final decision on the action or, in the case of a decision by the planner, the date the decision was filed;
- B. The appeal application shall be accompanied by the required fee except as allowed under Section 17.162.330. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.330 Fee waivers. A. Fees for land use applications and appeals of a land use decision shall be waived for a recognized neighborhood planning organization (NPO) if all of the following conditions are met:
- 1. The appeal or land use application must have been supported by a majority vote of NPO members at a public meeting where a quorum of NPO members was present;
 2. A copy of the minutes of the NPO meeting where the
- 2. A copy of the minutes of the NPO meeting where the appeal or land use application was initiated must be submitted with the appeal or land use application;
- 3. The appeal or application will be considered valid when conditions (1) and (2) of this section are met and all other filing requirements are met; and
- 4. The NPO chairperson or designated representative shall appear at the next available city council meeting after the application or appeal is filed to request a waiver. The NPO shall work through the Planning Division to schedule the item on a council agenda.
- B. Council may, on its own motion, waive the land use application or appeal fee for other nonprofit organizations. (Ord. 791 §3, 2007; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.340 Persons entitled to notice of appeal--Type of notice. Upon appeal, notice shall be given to parties entitled to notice under Sections 17.162.025 and 17.162.270. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.350 Contents of notice of appeal. Notice shall include those matters provided by Section 17.162.030. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A

- 17.162.360 Action on appeal. A. The appellate authority shall affirm, reverse or modify the decision which is the subject of the appeal; however, the decision shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Section 17.162.140; or
- B. Upon the written consent of all parties to extend the one hundred twenty-day limit, the appellate authority may remand the matter if it is satisfied that testimony or other evidence could not have been presented or was not available at the time of the initial hearing. In deciding to remand the matter, the appellate authority shall consider and make findings and conclusions regarding:
 - 1. The prejudice to parties,
- 2. The convenience or availability of evidence at the time of the initial hearing,
 - 3. The surprise to opposing parties,
- 4. The date notice was given to other parties as to an attempt to admit, or
- 5. The competency, relevancy and materiality of the proposed testimony or other evidence. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.380 Effective date of final action. A. Within ten days of the filing of the final order of council, the planner shall give notice of the final order to all parties to the proceeding, informing them of the date of filing, the decision rendered, and where a copy may be found.
- B. Action by the appellate authority on appeal shall be final and effective on the day of mailing notice of the final order. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)
- 17.162.390 Revocation of approvals. A. The hearings authority may, after a hearing conducted pursuant to this chapter, modify or revoke any approval granted pursuant to this chapter for any of the following reasons:
- 1. A material misrepresentation or mistake of fact made by the applicant in the application or in testimony and evidence submitted, whether such misrepresentation be intentional or unintentional;
- 2. A failure to comply with the terms and conditions of approval;
- 3. A failure to use the premises in accordance with the terms of the approval; or
- 4. A material misrepresentation or mistake of fact or policy by the city in the written or oral report regarding the matter whether such misrepresentation be intentional or unintentional.
- B. In the case of a decision made by the planner, the hearing on whether to modify or revoke an approval shall be held by the planning commission.
- C. A petition for appeal of a revocation or modification may be filed in the same manner as provided by Section 17.162.290. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995)

December 2018

| Sunday | Monday | Tuesday | Wednesday | Thursday | Friday | Saturday |
|--------|------------------------|------------------------|-----------|---|--|--|
| | | | | | | 1 |
| | | | | | | Watts House Tours 4-8pm |
| 2 | 3 City Council 7pm | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 Police Dept ~ Doughnut Day Scappoose Middle School, starting at 7am Watts House 150th Birthday celebration 4-8pm |
| 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 Urban Renewal Tech Advisory/EDC Noon Planning Commission 7pm | 14 Community Surveys are due; drop off at City Hall or white drop box in back parking lot. | 15 Watts House Santa visits 1pm & 3pm then Wine Tasting Event 4-7pm |
| 16 | 17 City Council 7pm | 18 | 19 | 20 Economic Development Noon Parks/Rec 6pm | 21 | 22 Watts House Tours 4-8pm |
| 23 | 24 City Offices closed | 25 City Offices closed | 26 | 27 No Planning Commission | 28 | 29 Watts House Tours 4-8pm |
| 30 | 31 | | | | | |

JANUARY 2019 Sunday Monday Thursday Friday Saturday Tuesday Wednesday 2 3 4 5 Happy New Year! **City Offices Closed** 8 9 10 11 12 6 7 Council Work City Council 7pm **Planning Commission 7pm** 15 19 13 14 16 18 17 Economic **Development** Committee noon Parks & Rec. Committee 6pm 23 20 21 22 24 25 26 **Council Work Planning** Commission 7pm Session 6:00 pm City Council 7pm 27 28 29 30 31